# UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

11-6-2008

# Coombs v. Curnow Appellant's Brief Dckt. 35157

Statement of the Case		
	Α.	Nature of the Case	
	B.	The Course of Proceedings 1	
	C.	Statement of Facts 2	
111.	Argument		
	A.	Scope of Review	
	B.	A Summary of the Argument	
	C.	Arguments	
IV.	Conclusion		
	Certificate of Service		
V.	Appendix Exhibit 1054		

i

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES CASES

Bloching v. Albertson's, Inc., 129 Idaho 844, 934 P.2d 17 (1977) 28, 29
Clausen v. M/V New Carissa, 339 F.3d 1049, 1060 (9th Cir. 2003) 33
Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharm. Inc., 509 U.S. 579, 113 S. Ct. 2786 (1993) 29
Formont v. Kircher, 91 Idaho 290, 296, 420 P.2d 661, 667 (1965) 22, 33
<i>Grover v. Isom</i> , 137 Idaho 770, 774, 53 P.3d 821, 825 (2002)
Grover v. Smith, 137 Idaho 247, 249, 46 P.3d 1105, 1107 (2002) 18
<i>Gmeiner v. Yacte</i> , 100 Idaho, 1, 4, 592 P.2d 57, 60 (1979) 19
Hoene v. Barnes, 121 Idaho 752, 828 P.2d 315, (1992) 43
Kemp v. State, 809 A.2d 77 (2002) 29
<i>Litchfield v. Nelson,</i> 122 Idaho 416, 420, 835 P.2d 651, 654(Ct. App. 1992)
<i>Manning v. Twin Falls Clinic &amp; Hospital</i> , 122 Idaho 47, 50, 830 P.2d 1185, 1118 (1992)
<i>McCall v. Seubert,</i> 142 Idaho 580, 585, 130 P.3d 1118, 1123 (2006)
Pearson v. Parsons, 114 Idaho 334, 337, 757 P.2d 197, 199 (1988)
<i>Perry v. Magic Valley Reg'l Med. Ctr</i> , 134 Idaho 46, 51, 995 P.2d 816, 821 (2000)
Quick v. Crane, 111 Idaho 759, 727 P.2d 1187, 1191 (1986) 17, 19
Reinhold v. Spencer, 53 Idaho 668, 690, 26 P.2d 796, 798 (1933) 23, 36

Sheridan v. St. Luke's Regional Medical Center,       135 Idaho 775, 785, 25 P.3d 88, 96 (2001)     20, 22
State v. Merwin, 131 Idaho 642, 644, 962 P.2d 1026, 1028 (1998) 30
Stephens v. Sterns, 106 Idaho 249, 252-253, 678 P.2d 41, 44-45 (1984) 19
<i>Swallow v. Emergency Medicine of Idaho,</i> 138 Idaho 589, 67 P.3d 68, (2003)
Watson v. Navistar International Transportation Corporation, 121 Idaho 659, 661, 827 P.2d 656, 699 (1992)
Weeks v. Eastern Idaho Health Services, 143 Idaho 8343, 153 P.3d 1180 (2007)
Rule 50(b), Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure
Idaho Rules of Evidence 701 and 702

.

٩

## I. ISSUES ON APPEAL

There is but one issue in this appeal:

A. Was there substantial, competent evidence to support the jury's verdict?

## **II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### A. Nature of the Case:

This is a medical malpractice action brought against two Boise physicians. They failed to adequately care for a child not yet three years of age after placing him in an intensive care unit following non-life threatening surgery and sedating him for 92 hours with a drug which was unfamiliar to them and not indicated for the long-term sedation of children. Due to the neglect and willful ignorance of the physicians, the boy's oxygen needs were compromised to the point where brain death occurred.

His mother brought this wrongful death action against the two physicians. At the conclusion of an eleven-day trial a jury verdict was rendered against the physicians in the amount of \$750,000. Post trial, and some six months later, the district court granted the physicians' motions for judgment notwithstanding the verdict with the district court ruling incorrectly that there must be peer-reviewed, published journal articles supporting an expert's opinion in order for that opinion to be acceptable. This appeal followed.

# B. <u>The Course of Proceedings</u>

1. Complaint filed December 17, 2004

- Defendants' multiple motions for summary judgment and to strike affidavit of Gregory B. Hammer, MD, 9/21/06 - 3/28/08.
- 3. Jury Verdict, 9/19/07
- 4. Defendants' Motions for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict, 9/28/07.
- 5. Decision and Order Re: Motions for JNOV, 3/28/08.
- 6. Appeal filed, 3/31/08.

## C. <u>Statement of Facts</u>

Michael Hall was a little boy just under three years of age who, in 2002, tangled with a large dog. The dog took a bite out of Michael's cheek and both Michael and the tissue (described in the coroner's report as approximately 2" x 2"), Tr. p. 147, II. 6-17, were rushed to St. Alphonsus Regional Medical Center. The dog bite, while serious, was not a mortal wound and should not have caused Michael's death. Tr. p., 175, II. 9-14.

Dr. Curnow, a pediatric surgeon, took control of the case and called in Defendant Griffiths, a pediatric plastic surgeon, to work with him in attempting a tissue reattachment on Michael's face. Everyone agrees that the wound was not life-threatening and that Michael was certainly not expected to die. Eg., Dr. Curnow, Tr. p. 1056, II. 12-15; Dr. Georgeson, Tr. p. 2036, II. 21-24.

In fact, Michael was described by Defendant Curnow as a well-developed, well nourished, almost three-year-old boy, Tr. p., 1027, II. 3-6. Dr. Curnow testified that Michael's heart, lungs and brain were in good condition, he had no known allergies and he

was a good surgical candidate. Tr. p. 1926, II. 3-18. He had no hepatitis, (Tr. p. 1978, II. 10-12,) no jaundice (Tr. p. 1981, II. 11-13). He had had all of his immunizations. (Tr. p. 1027, II. 14-20).

Dr. Groben, the Ada County Coroner's pathologist who conducted the autopsy, observed that Michael was in "good condition" and a "normal little boy." with no signs of child abuse or neglect. *Id.* "There was no cardiac reason for him to die." Tr. p. 161, ll. 9-10. Examination of Michael's organs revealed no pathology or disease or sickness. Tr. p. 164, ll. 13-18. Tr. p., 145, ll. 6-22. No trauma or bruising was noted. Tr. p. 147, ll. 2-5. The anesthesiologist, Dr. Smagula, testified that, aside from the dog bite, Michael was a healthy child, Tr 1809, ll. 1-3. One of the defendants' primary experts testified "There was nothing systemically abnormal about this boy." Dr. Latchaw, Tr. p. 1643, ll. 1-3. In short, all of the medical doctors agreed that Michael was a healthy and normal little boy, a little smallish perhaps, but within the parameters of expected growth and development as measured by weight and height.<sup>1</sup>

With the consent of his mother, Michael was taken to surgery and Dr. Griffiths stitched the tissue back on to Michael's face. A second surgery followed within a matter of hours and Michael was then sent to the ICU to be monitored both by Dr. Griffiths and

<sup>1</sup> He was between the 5<sup>th</sup> and the 10<sup>th</sup> percentile for height and weight. Tr. p. 821, II. 2-3. APPELLANTS' BRIEF - 3

by Dr. Curnow to see if the tissue would revascularize and "take."<sup>2</sup>

During the two surgeries Michael was sedated with a drug known as Propofol. Propofol is often used for short periods of time for sedation both with children and adults. According to its manufacturer, however, and confirmed by the testimony of Plaintiffs' experts and the 2002 Physician's Desk Reference (PDR), Propofol is not indicated to be used for the long term sedation of children in the ICU.<sup>3</sup> In 2002, the time in question, the long term use of Propofol was very, very uncommon Tr. p. 322, II. 14-20 and only done with extremely close monitoring of the patient.<sup>4</sup>

The Propofol was initially chosen by an anesthesiologist, Dr. Smagula, in consultation with Dr. Griffiths for the short-term purposes of the initial surgery. Dr. Smagula, the anaesthesiologist, and Dr. Griffiths, the surgeon, had never met before. *Id.*, I. 13 and it was only happenstance that brought them together in the operating room at the same time, *Id.*, II. 14-17. Put otherwise, Dr. Smagula was a stranger to Dr. Griffiths. Tr. p. 1810, II. 6-8. There was no extended discussion about the Propofol that was to be used

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The defense spent much unnecessary trial time discussing this procedure, how difficult it was, how the procedure was necessary to avoid disfigurement of Michael in his later life, the tools used in the procedure, the skills demonstrated by Dr. Griffiths and the like. All of this was totally unnecessary as Michael's mother was never in the slightest way critical of either defendant for undertaking or performing the procedure. Tr., p. 1082, II. 5-20. This case focused instead on what the defendants did or did not do after the surgery and while Michael was in the ICU under their care.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The 2002 Physician's Desk Reference (PDR) while not technically admitted into evidence was quoted from extensively and the entry on Propofol was frequently displayed for the jury's benefit. The district court accurately noted the entry most frequently discussed at trial. R. p. 126.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> "Long term" was defined as more than 24 hours. Tr. p. 855, ll. 16-22.

with Michael in the operating room. Significantly, this anesthesiologist was not asked by either of the defendants to look after Michael after the surgery, to make rounds on him, or to check up on Michael's care while he was being sedated on a long term basis. Dr. Smagula was not asked to give any advice with respect to the long term sedation of Michael with Propofol. He had no discussion with Dr. Griffiths about the length of time that Propofol would be administered to Michael in the ICU. His advice was never sought regarding how long Michael should remain on Propofol. He was never asked about the reduction of the dosage after Michael entered the ICU. (Tr. pp. 1811-1812). Dr. Smagula denied emphatically ever approving or recommending Michael being kept on Propofol for 92 hours in the ICU at St. Alphonsus, Tr. p. 1813, II. 9-16.

Neither Dr. Griffiths, Tr. p. 2238, II. 12-19, nor Dr. Curnow, Tr. p. 1041, II. 14-24; Tr. p. 1042, II. 5-10 had ever used Propofol for the long term sedation of children prior to Michael's death. Nevertheless, Dr. Griffiths, with Dr. Curnow's knowledge and concurrence, signed the order for the indefinite, long-term use of Propofol. For approximately 92 hours Michael was kept sedated on the drug. The reason he was placed in the ICU was to keep him quiet so that he could not disturb the attempted reattachment of the tissue. He was intubated, on a ventilator, unable to speak, and sedated to the point of unconsciousness. The initial dosage and order of Dr. Griffith for the administration of Propofol was never changed from the time Dr. Griffiths first gave it to the time when he discontinued his care of Michael some days later upon determining that the attempt to

reattach the tissue was a failure. Tr. p. 1107, l. 22 - p. 1108, l. 3; Tr. p. 1975, ll. 13-21.

Virtually every expert on both sides agreed that a physician is supposed to know the properties and contraindications of drugs which he or she orders for the patients.<sup>5</sup> "Would you agree with me that a medical doctor who uses a drug ought to know generally the properties and contraindications of the drug? A. Yes." Dr. Curnow's testimony, Tr. p. 1050, II. 19-22.

Even the nursing staff knew better than to keep this boy on Propofol on a long term basis in the ICU. Nurse Crockett, a St. Alphonsus employee, made an entry in the hospital nursing notes which read as follows:

06/25 9:30 MD Contact By: Tamela R. Crockett, RN Dr. Curnow at bedside, asked by this nurse re: contraindications of propofol use in children. Responds, "no I use propofol in kids all the time. The trouble comes of concurrent use of propofol and lipids with parenteral nutrition, and I'm not going to put any lipids in the TPN." Patty Soran, Pediatric Clinical Case Manager in attendance. Ex. 1, p. 195.

Even after being warned by Nurse Crockett Dr. Curnow did not do any research

about this drug with which he was unfamiliar, Tr. p. 1052, II. 17-21.<sup>6</sup> He admitted that the

use of Propofol for long-term sedation was totally outside the realm of his practice, Tr. p.

1049, Il. 2-4. Dr. Curnow admitted further that although Michael was a complex pediatric

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Dr. Griffiths, Tr. p. 1092, II. 12-17; Dr. Curnow, Tr. p. 1050, I. 19-22; Dr. Vestal, Tr. p. 1536, I. 24 - p. 1537, I.4; Dr. Smith, Tr. p. 2109, II. 15-19. Dr. Reed, Tr. 1736, II. 1-5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Dr. Curnow admitted that Nurse Crockett was a nurse with whom he was familiar and that he regarded her as a competent nurse. Tr. p. 1051, II. 9-13.

patient he never requested a pediatric intensivist to follow Michael in spite of the fact that Dr. Christiansen, a pediatric intensivist known to Dr. Curnow, was available. Tr., p. 1045, I. 21 - p. 1046, I. 1; Dr. Christiansen, the pediatric intensivist, was a good physician in the opinion of Dr. Curnow, Tr. p. 1047, II. 19-22 and available but was not even consulted. This in spite of the fact that with respect to the drug Propofol Dr. Curnow testified "I don't use it for long term sedation . . . I just don't use it . . . " Tr., p. 1041, II. 18-24. Dr. Curnow was not even aware of what the dosage of Propofol should be if used long term with children. Tr. p. 1042, II. 5-10.

Dr. Curnow agreed that both defendants were equally responsible for the care of Michael while he was in the ICU. Curnow Tr. p.1042, II. 11-15

Dr. Griffiths who signed the order for Propofol also admitted that when a doctor of medicine orders a drug for a patient he or she should know generally the properties and contraindications of the drug. Tr. p. 1092, II. 12-17. Although he signed the order for the administration of Propofol on a long term basis, although he had never ordered Propofol for the long term sedation of any children in the ICU prior to Michael's case (Tr. p. 2238, II. 12-19) and although he had no advice from any anesthesiologist that this order was appropriate, Dr. Griffiths did not look up any information on Propofol prior to Michael's death. Tr. p. 1093, II. 14-18. Although he, too, had never used Propofol for the long term sedation of children in the ICU, Dr. Curnow similarly did nothing to research or to educate himself about the drug before or even after Michael's death. Tr. p. 1944, II. 6-8. The

testimony from both plaintiffs' and defendants' experts was that a computer search on Propofol could have been done easily and very quickly.<sup>7</sup> Had either physician done so he would have quickly learned that Propofol was not indicated for the long-term sedation of children and that there was a FDA warning against its use. Defendants' expert agreed that the PDR entry on Propofol provided a "caution" and a "flag." Tr. p. 1738, II. 5-22. As the trial court observed, (R. p. 126):

The entry most frequently discussed at trial provided:

[propofol] is not indicated for use in pediatric patients for ICU sedation or for MAC sedation for surgical, nonsurgical or diagnostic procedures as safety and effectiveness have not been established.

There have been anecdotal reports of serious adverse events and death in pediatric patients with upper respiratory infections receiving [propofol] for ICU sedation.

In one multicenter clinical trial of ICU sedation in critically ill pediatric patients that excluded patients with upper respiratory tract infections, the incidence of mortality observed in patients who received (propofol) was 9% while that for patients who received standard sedative agents was 4%. While causality has not been established, [propofol] is not indicated for sedation in pediatric patients until further studies have been performed to document its safety in that population ... 2002 PDR exhibit 6.

Both Dr. Griffiths and Dr. Curnow followed Michael in the ICU. Michael's vital signs

and lab reports, were recorded and available to them around the clock. Tr. p. 1095, ll. 14-

24.

The tissue that Dr. Griffiths had reattached to Michael's face did not "take". The

technical term is "revascularization" but the tissue, without an adequate blood supply, did

<sup>7</sup> Dr. Groben, Tr. p. 156, ll. 22-24; Dr. Reichard: "Probably within a minute." Tr. p. 1275, l. 22. APPELLANTS' BRIEF - 8 not adapt and had to be removed after about the fourth day that Michael was in the ICU. The tissue was removed, the wound was debrided and the next day, June 26<sup>th</sup>, Dr. Griffiths left town leaving Michael in the ICU and still on the Propofol drip. Tr. p. 1105, II. 14-25. Dr. Griffiths never saw Michael again while Michael was alive. Tr. p. 1107, II. 7-11. Even, after it was apparent that the tissue would not reattach, Dr. Griffiths still did not take the time to look up anything about Propofol on the hospital computers although such were available, Tr. p. 1093, II. 14-18 and admitted that as to the team taking care of Michael there was no "quarterback." Tr. p. 1112, II. 4-9. Similarly, Dr. Curnow went on vacation the morning of June 26<sup>th</sup> leaving Michael still sedated on Propofol, intubated and on a ventilator in the ICU. Tr. p. 1060, II. 8-10.

In addition to the initial and continuing selection of Propofol for the sedation of this little boy, his vital signs and laboratory reports showed that he was experiencing difficulties which were either ignored or not recognized or not appropriately treated. Tr. p. 446, Il. 5-15. Michael's blood pressure from the beginning of the administration of Propofol to the point where it was stopped just prior to his death was extremely and abnormally low. [Ex. 1054] That blood pressure was graphically displayed on a time line for the jury and is provided as an appendix to this brief. It essentially was in the range of 60/20 with some, but not much, movement up and down. In addition, the values for the oxygen-carrying components of the blood -- the hemoglobin and hemocrit -- were very low sometimes reaching "panic" values. Ex. 1052; Tr. p. 1430, I 16 - p. 1431, I. 8. Additionally, the liver

enzymes escalated from the normal range of approximately 20 to 50 to 899 over time indicating a seriously-compromised liver. Ex. 1052. Michael's temperature was also elevated over time which increased his brain's and body's need for oxygen. Tr. p. 868, l. 21 - p. 869, l. 19.

All of these deficits were apparent to the defendant physicians who were responsible for monitoring Michael. It was they who ordered the lab reports and it was they who reviewed these lab reports. Tr. p. 2231, II. 18-24. These values were tell-tale signs that Michael was in distress but inadequate steps were taken to relieve that distress including, but not limited to, the discontinuance of the Propofol which was keeping him sedated without an appropriate oxygen supply to his brain. There were many indications for decreasing the dose or turning it off altogether. The lab reports were available. Tr. p. 2232, II. 14-18. But the Propofol was never discontinued by the defendants.

Propofol is a toxic drug with toxic side effects. Tr. p. 245, II. 10-25. Loring Beals, a registered clinical chemist and toxicologist, testified that Propofol lowers the blood pressure, interferes with the uptake of certain fatty acids necessary for the body's energy production [Tr. p. 246, II. 1-3] and causes "oxygen deprivation throughout the body and liver function problems can arise with prolonged use." Tr. p. 246, I. 23 - p. 247, I. 1. Propofol interferes with the pumping of the heart and reduces the contractile strength of the heart muscle "so that when it beats you do not get an -- effective circulation of the blood." *Id.* II. 13-16. The liver manufactures proteins necessary for the maintenance of the

circulation of blood and which are also involved in the body's metabolism where hemoglobin -- the red pigment in red cells -- is being manufactured. The liver also manufacturers albumin which, if decreased, reduces circulation. This scientific explanation and the consequences of the administration of Propofol were stated clearly:

So first the heart is not pumping well because it doesn't have the contractile strength to really -- to do that, and one of the things that you observe as a result of that is what is a -- the jargon for it is hypotension, which just simply means the blood pressure that is too low, so you can get the failure of the blood to circulate in an appropriate satisfactory manner.

When the heart puts the squeeze on the blood, if you want to think of it that way, and the arterial blood is being forced under pressure out to the tissues, you get the blood which has just been circulated through the lungs and has picked up oxygen from the breathing process, and it's attached to the hemoglobin that I referred to, and it's distributed through all of the tissues.

And as the arteries break down into smaller and smaller vessels called arterials and finally into tiny, tiny little vessels called capillaries, and through the walls of those capillaries fluid moves out of the blood circulation and into the cells, into the tissues, and it carries the nutrient molecules, it carries the oxygen to the tissues, and if this is not going well, the oxygenation of the tissues is failing, and then the cells begin to break down.

I alluded to the albumin and the globulin, particularly the protein made by the liver, which itself now after a period of time is being damaged from lack of oxygen, and the liver cells, then, cannot make albumin well, and so you have a lowering of the albumin level in the circulation. Tr. p. 248, I. 10 - p. 249, I. 18.

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