Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

1-23-2009

Coombs v. Curnow Respondent's Brief Dckt. 35157

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

IV. ARGUMENT

Notwithstanding the Verdict. Although plaintiffs have submitted lengthy factual arguments calculated to sway the Court's sympathy, and the loss of a child is indeed a tragedy unlike any other, the simple and undisputed fact remains that at trial, plaintiffs' expert witness on both causation and the standard of care premised his opinions on scientific data that was unavailable at the time care was rendered. Even if the underlying scientific data had been available in June 2002, the research relied upon by plaintiffs' expert fails to establish a causal connection between long-term sedation with propofol and cerebral edema as the sole cause of death. There was no substantial evidence introduced at trial proving that the care rendered by Dr. Curnow caused Michael Hall's death, or that Dr. Curnow breached the local standard of health care practice as it existed in June 2002. Given the lack of evidence, entry of judgment n.o.v. was the appropriate remedy.

A. Standard of Review.

The function of I.R.C.P. 50(b) is "to give the trial court the last opportunity to order the judgment that the law requires." *Quick v. Crane*, 111 Idaho 759, 764, 727 P.2d 1187, 1192 (1986). In determining whether a judgment n.o.v. should have been granted, the Idaho appellate courts apply "the same standard as does the trial court which passed on the motion originally." *Quick*, 111 Idaho at 763, 727 P.2d at 1191. The question of whether a verdict should have been directed "is purely a question of law," and in such matters, the "parties are entitled to full review by the appellate court without special deference to the views of the trial court." *Id.* at 764. This Court is obligated to review the record of the trial below and determine if there was "substantial evidence to justify submitting the case to the jury." *Id.* The question is "not whether there is literally no evidence supporting the party against whom the motion is made, but whether there is substantial evidence upon which the jury could properly find a verdict for that party." *Quick*, 111 Idaho at 763 (citing *Mann v. Safeway Stores, Inc.*, 95 Idaho 732, 736, 518 P.2d 1194, 1198 (1974)).

B. Plaintiffs Failed at Trial To Present Substantial Evidence Proving That Dr Curnow's Care and Treatment of Michael Hall Was an Actual or Proximate Cause of His Death.

Plaintiffs' burden of proof.

A plaintiff in a medical malpractice action must establish both a breach of the applicable standard of care and that the breach was the proximate cause of the injury. Sheridan v. St. Luke's Reg'l Med. Ctr., 135 Idaho 775, 25 P.3d 88 (2001). Proximate cause consists of two elements: actual cause and proximate cause, which is also referred to as "legal cause." Newberry

v. Martens, 142 Idaho 284, 288, 127 P.3d 187, 191 (2005). Actual cause is comprised of the factual question of "whether a particular event produced a particular consequence." *Id.*Proximate cause "focuses upon legal policy in terms of whether responsibility will be extended to the consequences of conduct which has occurred." *Munson v. State, Dep't of Highways*, 96 Idaho 529, 531, 531 P.2d 1174, 1176 (1975).

2. Evidentiary requirements for proving causation.

While there are statutory requirements expressly identifying the elements of duty and breach in a medical malpractice case, proximate cause in such cases "is governed by the rules of evidence regarding opinion testimony by lay witnesses and experts under Idaho Rules of Evidence 701 and 702." *Sheridan*, 135 Idaho at 785. Proximate cause can be shown either by direct evidence, or it may be shown "from a 'chain of circumstances from which the ultimate fact required to be established is reasonably and naturally inferable. *Id.* (citing *Formont v. Kircher*, 91 Idaho 290, 296, 420 P.2d 661, 667 (1965)).

Idaho Rule of Evidence 701 states:

If the witness is not testifying as an expert, the testimony of the witness in the form of opinions or inferences is limited to those opinions or inferences which are (a) rationally based on the perception of the witness and (b) helpful to a clear understanding of the testimony of the witness or the determination of a fact in issue, and (c) not based on scientific, technical or other specialized knowledge within the scope of Rule 702.

(Emphasis added.)

Idaho Rule of Evidence 702 states:

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a

21

fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.

(Emphasis added.)

The Rules of Evidence recognize that when scientific or other specialized knowledge is necessary, it must come in the form of expert testimony. This Court has long held that there are instances where expert testimony is necessary in order to prove causation in a medical malpractice case. Concerning the *Sheridan* court's finding that proximate cause in a medical malpractice case could be inferred through a "chain of circumstances" this Court later explained:

When doing so, we did not hold that expert testimony is never necessary in order to prove causation in a medical malpractice case. We simply held that expert testimony that the nurses' negligence was a proximate cause of the child's injuries was not required under the facts of that particular case.

Swallow v. Emergency Med. of Idaho, P.A., 138 Idaho 589, 596, 67 P.3d 68, 75 (2003) (emphasis added).

The clarification offered in *Swallow* confirmed the holding of this Court made some thirteen years earlier: namely, that the medical cause of injury or death is wholly scientific and therefore requires the testimony of a competent expert. *See, e.g., Evans v. Twin Falls County*, 118 Idaho 210, 214, 796 P.2d 87, 91 (1990). The rationale employed by the *Evans* court has been consistently applied in other cases as well. *See, e.g., Flowerdew v. Warner*, 90 Idaho 164, 172, 409 P.2d 110, 115 (1965) (lay opinion testimony is inadmissible to prove the cause of a plaintiff's condition); *Kolln v. St. Luke's Reg'l Med. Ctr.*, 130 Idaho 323, 329-30, 940 P.2d

22

1142, 1148-49 (1997) (holding that as a lay person, the plaintiff in a medical malpractice case was not competent to testify about the cause of her injury).

There can be no question (and indeed, plaintiffs have never disputed) that the issue of whether long-term sedation using propofol can cause death in children without the classic signs of PRIS is an issue that requires scientific or other specialized knowledge to assist the trier of fact in determining the facts in issue. Expert testimony was necessary in this case in order to establish a link between the use of propofol and Michael Hall's death.

3. Expert testimony, where required, must be reliable.

Having established that expert testimony is necessary on the issue of causation, the Court must then determine if there was substantial expert testimony introduced at trial that was sufficiently sound so as to be admissible. Idaho law precludes the introduction of expert opinions that are "speculative, conclusory, or unsubstantiated by facts in the record," since any such testimony would be "of no assistance to the jury in rendering its verdict and, therefore, is inadmissible as evidence." *Bromley v. Garey*, 132 Idaho 807, 811, 979 P.2d 1165, 1169 (1999) (emphasis added). The admissibility of evidence is a threshold question left to the sound discretion of the district court. *See Weeks v. E. Idaho Health Servs.*, 143 Idaho 834, 838, 153 P.3d 1180, 1184 (2007). The trial court also has discretion to determine whether or not there is a scientific basis for an expert' opinions. *Swallow*, 138 Idaho at 592.

Judge Bail correctly noted that the Idaho appellate courts have "not fully adopted" the standard set forth in *Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc.*, 509 U.S. 579, 113 S. Ct. 2786, 125 L. Ed. 2d 469 (1993). R. Vol. I, 122. The Idaho appellate courts have, however,

"followed a similar analytical method and tested the expert testimony based upon factors which tended to show the reliability of the studies that underlay the expert opinion." State v. Konechny, 134 Idaho 410, 417-18, 3 P.3d 535, 542 (Ct. App. 2000). If the "reasoning or methodology underlying [an expert's] opinion is not scientifically sound, then the opinion will not assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or determine a fact in issue." Swallow, 138 Idaho at 592. Under this paradigm, it is the trial judge's function to "distinguish scientifically sound reasoning from that of the self-validating expert, who uses scientific terminology to present unsubstantiated personal beliefs." Konechny, 134 Idaho at 417 (citing Ryan v. Beisner, 123 Idaho 42, 46, 844 P.2d 24, 28 (Ct. App. 1992)). To assist the trial court in this duty, "[t]he Daubert standards of whether the theory can be tested and whether it has been subjected to peer-review and publication have been applied. ... " See Weeks, 143 Idaho at 838. The permitted application of these standards contains an inherent recognition that "[s]cientific methodology today is based on generating hypotheses and testing them to see if they can be falsified; indeed, this methodology is what distinguishes science from other fields of human inquiry." Daubert, 509 U.S. at 593. Bearing these standards in mind, the evidence presented by plaintiffs at trial failed to meet the minimum requirements of reliability.

4. Plaintiffs' expert testimony was unreliable.

The district court noted that plaintiffs presented "no studies which point to the use of propofol causing death solely by cerebral edema in a young child who shows no other signs of PRIS." R., Vol. I, 125. There was ample testimony offered during trial which established that PRIS is routinely associated with certain "hallmark" signs, such as rhabdomyolysis, cardiae

bradycardia, refractory metabolic acidosis, hepatic steatosis and/or renal failure. See, e.g., Tr., Vol. I, p. 478, L. 1 – p. 481, L. 14; p. 508, LL. 14-24 (Dr. Hammer), Tr., Vol. I, p. 1705, L. 25 – p. 1707, L. 6 (Dr. Reed), and Tr., Vol. I, p. 1312, L. 13 – p. 1314, L. 21 (Dr. Johnston). Plaintiffs' sole expert on causation, Dr. Hammer, repeatedly acknowledged that he was unaware of any correlation in the medical literature between the use of propofol and death caused exclusively by cerebral edema where none of the hallmark signs of PRIS were found. See, e.g., Tr., Vol. I, p. 466, L. 20 – p. 467, L. 13; p. 563, LL. 5-22. Defense experts Dr. Michael Reed and Dr. Martin Johnston provided similar testimony. When asked if cerebral edema was described in any of the medical literature addressing PRIS, Dr. Reed stated that he had "never seen that." Tr., Vol. I, p. 1707, L. 25 – p. 1708, L. 3. Dr. Johnston was asked if, in his research into PRIS, he had found any articles that associated PRIS with only "a global ischemia of the brain," to which he answered "no." Tr., Vol. I, p. 1315, LL. 6-16.

Given the foregoing trial testimony, the district court aptly noted:

[T]his is not a case in which the scientific community is split with some articles concluding that propofol can cause the type of harm experienced in this case and some articles disputing that conclusion. There are no articles in which it is proposed that long-term high dose use of propofol is fatal in children without the presence of some of the signs of PRIS.

R. Vol. I, p. 125 (emphasis added).

Despite the lack of any scientific support for his opinions in the medical literature,

Dr. Hammer insisted that propofol was the cause of Michael Hall's fatal cerebral edema. Judge

Bail observed that the sole bases for Dr. Hammer's opinions were excerpts from the 2002

25

Physicians' Desk Reference and a 2003 article published in the Italian journal, Intensive Care Medicine. See R., Vol. I, pp. 125-26.

a. Dr. Hammer's conclusion regarding oxygen utilization is contrary to the article upon which it was allegedly based.

As noted above, Dr. Hammer's theory of causation was that the propofol administered to Michael contributed to an unsafe drop in blood pressure, which in turn decreased the blood flow to vital organs, thereby decreasing energy production from the mitochondrion, ultimately resulting in diminished oxygen delivery to the brain that caused fatal cerebral edema. See Tr., Vol. I, p. 355, L. 7 – p. 356, L. 3; p. 365, LL. 2-20. Dr. Hammer concluded that these factors then caused "lethal organ injury, including brain injury" (Tr., Vol. I, p. 356, LL. 15-17) and/or "multi-organ injury" (id., p. 366, LL. 19-22). He thereby conceded that propofol-related death necessarily involves multiple organ injury, but in his efforts to "avoid" the PRIS factors absent in Michael Hall (Tr., Vol. I, p. 464, L. 17), he continued to maintain that the use of propofol was itself capable of causing fatal cerebral edema without any other signs of organ injury.

The article chosen by Dr. Hammer to support his conclusion was published on August 6, 2003, in an apparent effort to "crystalize a central hypothesis" for what was causing PRIS (see Tr., Vol. I, p. 1720, LL. 12-13) and theorized that one of the "key pathogenetic mechanism[s]" was the "imbalance between energy demand and utilization." R., Vol. I, p. 126. From this discussion of the imbalance between energy demand and utilization, Dr. Hammer

determined that propofol resulted in cellular toxicity due to its "effect on [the] mitochondrion." Tr., Vol. I, p. 365, LL. 16-20.

Even though the oxygen utilization theory espoused by Dr. Hammer originated in the Italian study, when that study is viewed in its full context, it is clear that it does not support Dr. Hammer's opinions. The article concludes instead that "cardiac and peripheral muscle necrosis" are the result of the decreased mitochondrial activity, not cerebral edema resulting in death. R., Vol. I, p. 126 (emphasis added). The finding of "cardiac and peripheral muscle necrosis" was classified by the study's authors as a "critical illness cardiac failure and rhabdomyolysis." Id. (emphasis added). The Italian study implicitly acknowledged that even if oxygen utilization is the operative mechanism for injury, the end result nevertheless must include the "hallmark" signs of rhabdomyolysis and cardiac failure. The evidence presented at trial unequivocally established that neither cardiac nor peripheral muscle necrosis were present in Michael Hall. Dr. Reichard testified that he specifically looked at the pathological evidence, including heart and muscle tissue that even Dr. Groben had not seen and noted that there were no signs of rhabdomyolysis. Tr., Vol. I, p. 1251, LL. 9-20; p. 1256, LL. 4-18; p. 1259, L. 25 p. 1260, L. 13. Given the conclusion that cardiac and peripheral muscle necrosis—and not cerebral edema—are the direct result of decreased mitochondrial activity, the article upon which Dr. Hammer chiefly relied at trial does not support his conclusion that the administration of propofol caused Michael's death by cerebral edema alone, without any other signs of PRIS.

b. The study referenced in the 2002 PDR, upon which Dr. Hammer further based his opinions, was shown at trial by its author to be statistically insignificant in establishing causation.

In addition to the 2003 Italian journal, Dr. Hammer's opinions were founded on a multi-clinic study referred to in the 2002 PDR. Tr., Vol. I, p. 318, LL. 19-21; p. 443, LL. 11-14. The 2002 PDR entry was admitted as an exhibit at trial and was exhaustively addressed by witnesses for all parties. The passage cited most regularly by Dr. Hammer in support of his claim that propofol was the proximate cause of death read as follows:

There have been anecdotal reports of serious adverse events and death in pediatric patients with upper respiratory infections receiving [propofol] for ICU sedation.

In one multicenter clinical trial of ICU sedation in critically ill pediatric patients that excluded patients with upper respiratory tract infections, the incidence of mortality observed in patients who received [propofol] was 9% while that for patients who received standard sedative agents was 4%. While causality has not been established, [propofol] is not indicated for sedation in pediatric patients until further studies have been performed to document its safety in that population.

R., Vol. I, pp. 126-27 (emphasis added).

Dr. Curnow presented expert testimony at trial from Dr. Reed, whose qualifications in the field of propofol study as set forth above are second to none and who was the principal designer and author of the study referenced in the 2002 PDR. Tr., Vol. I, p. 1695, LL. 1-9; p. 1703, L. 19 – p. 1704, L. 8. Dr. Reed not only testified that the multi-center clinical trial did not show any statistical significance between the use of propofol and pediatric mortality, but he also stated that in **none** of the patients who died following administration of propofol was

28

Client:1079548,1

cerebral edema the **only** finding. Tr., Vol. I, p. 1704, LL. 14-19; p. 1707, LL. 3-6, 18-20. In fact, cerebral edema was not described in **any** of the referenced case studies. Tr., Vol. I, p. 1707, LL. 20-21.

5. Idaho law does not allow speculative or unsupported opinions.

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